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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Welcome to this

          3  meeting of the City Council Finance Committee.

          4                 My name is David Weprin, and I am

          5  Chair of the Finance Committee. Today we will take

          6  those actions necessary to modify the Fiscal 2003

          7  budget and bring it into balance.

          8                 I cannot overstate how difficult it

          9  has been to make the choices and take the steps we

         10  have had to make to bring us here today.

         11                 As we all know, in the aftermath of

         12  the terrorist attacks, the City has lost $3 billion

         13  in revenues from last fiscal year through the end of

         14  the current fiscal year. This does not even take

         15  into account revenues lost due to the recession and

         16  stop and start recovery of the last year.

         17                 Just a few weeks ago, the Council and

         18  the Mayor Agreed that the City was facing a budget

         19  deficit in the current fiscal year of approximately

         20  $1 billion.

         21                 The Mayor has projected that next

         22  year's budget deficit could exceed $6 billion. This

         23  Committee and I personally have been calling on

         24  Washington since we took office last year to provide

         25  us with budgetary relief for the revenues lost as a
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          2  result of the 9/11 attacks, and we will not stop

          3  seeking aid.

          4                 However, we would be acting

          5  irresponsibly if we did not take the painful steps

          6  we are taking today to begin putting the City on the

          7  path to fiscal recovery, and because we are mandated

          8  by law to balance our budget, failure to shoulder

          9  some of the pain and to convince our state and

         10  federal governments and fellow citizens to help us

         11  with the remainder of the burden could lead to

         12  fiscal disaster.

         13                 The steps we take today are going to

         14  be hard on all New Yorkers. The Council has tried

         15  its best to walk a difficult line. We cannot ignore

         16  the dire fiscal situation we are in, and we must

         17  shoulder a substantial amount of the pain if we are

         18  to maintain credibility when asking Albany and

         19  Washington for additional help which we will still

         20  desperately need, even if we take the steps we are

         21  about to take today.

         22                 However, we cannot ask our City and

         23  our constituents to bear such a heavy share of the

         24  burden that we risk stumbling or falling under its

         25  wake.
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          2                 The Council, in adopting the expense

          3  and revenue budget modifications before us today, is

          4  approving a gap-closing program of over $840

          5  million.

          6                 However, we have restored critical

          7  services, such as day care slots, cuts at CUNY. The

          8  Mayor sought and fought hard for a property tax

          9  increase of 25 percent, because of his legitimate

         10  concerns over the size of the budget gap we are

         11  facing.

         12                 However, because the impact is such a

         13  large increase on our residents and businesses in

         14  these economically troubled times would be too

         15  onerous. We have substantially cut the size of the

         16  Mayor's proposed property tax increase to 18

         17  percent.

         18                 Today we have done our part.

         19  Additional help must come not from our residents but

         20  from Albany and Washington.

         21                 So, we will be considering the

         22  following items:

         23                 First, proposed Intro. No. 317-A,

         24  introduced by request of the Mayor, which is a

         25  proposed local law authorizing the Council to adopt
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          2  a mid-year property tax increase.

          3                 Next, we will consider a resolution

          4  which does the following:

          5                 Approves MN 2 and MN 3, which are the

          6  budget modifications; and, two, amends and restates

          7  the three property tax resolutions which we adopted

          8  in June, to lower the increase in the share of the

          9  property tax levy, which is borne by class 1

         10  home-owners from five percent to two percent.

         11                 And which also amends the property

         12  tax fixing resolution to impose the additional

         13  property tax increase for the second half of Fiscal

         14  2003, beginning on January 1st.

         15                 I'm now going to introduce my

         16  colleagues. Starting on my far right we have Peter

         17  Vallone, Jr., from Queens; Council Member Gale

         18  Brewer from Manhattan; Council Member and Minority

         19  Leader Jim Oddo from Staten Island; Council Member

         20  Dennis Gallagher from Queens; Council Member Lou

         21  Fidler from Brooklyn; Council Member Allan Jennings

         22  from Queens.

         23                 Going to the other side; Council

         24  Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan; Council Member

         25  John Liu from Queens; Council Member Helen Sears
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          2  from Queens; Council Member Christine Quinn from

          3  Manhattan; Council Member Eva Moskowitz from

          4  Manhattan; Council Member Madeline Provenzano from

          5  the Bronx; Council Member and our Majority Whip

          6  Leroy Comrie from Queens; and our Majority Leader

          7  Council Member Joel Rivera from the Bronx.

          8                 I'm now going to call upon a panel of

          9  our Finance Staff led by Larian Angelo.

         10                 Larian.

         11                 MS. ANGELO: Hello. Larian Angelo,

         12  Director of Finance Division.

         13                 MR. ZANGERLE: Pablo Zangerle, Finance

         14  Division.

         15                 MS. FELTON: Nadine Felton, Finance

         16  Division.

         17                 MR. TRAMONTANO: Frank Tramontano,

         18  Finance Division.

         19                 MS. EMANUEL: Staci Emanuel, Finance

         20  Division.

         21                 MS. ANGELO: The Finance Division

         22  actually would like to start by thanking Council

         23  Member Simcha Felder for very generously sending us

         24  lunch, dinner and actually breakfast yesterday, and

         25  also to thank all the Council members who, from time
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          2  to time, gave us candy and cookies and milk. So,

          3  thank you very much. It helps us get our work done.

          4                 As the Chairman said, there are two

          5  items before the Committee today. A local law that

          6  was sent to us at the request of the Mayor to permit

          7  a mid-year property tax increase; and a unified

          8  budget resolution that will modify the Expense

          9  Budget to incorporate over $800 million a year of

         10  agency cuts, for Council requested restoration

         11  package, and some new needs from the Administration.

         12                 It will also amend the tax-fixing

         13  resolution to both lower the tax burden on class

         14  one, as the Council requested of the State

         15  Legislature earlier this year, and raise an

         16  additional $839 million in property tax revenue in

         17  Fiscal '03.

         18                 It also contains a revenue

         19  modification that will recognize the loss of over

         20  $697 million in tax revenue, a loss of $182 million

         21  in other revenue, and the additional revenue added

         22  by the additional property tax.

         23                 Obviously, the driving force behind

         24  this modification was a need to close the

         25  $1,073,000,000 gap that had opened up in the Fiscal
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          2  '03 budget, and also, if possible, to begin to

          3  reduce the gap next year.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

          5  Angelo.

          6                 Any other members of the panel?

          7                 Any questions from our members?

          8                 I neglected to introduce Counsel to

          9  the Finance Committee on my immediate right, Jim

         10  Caras.

         11                 Any questions from the members?

         12                 Council Member Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman.

         15                 So, Larian, we will be voted on one

         16  package, or will there be a separate vote for the

         17  budget mod, and a separate vote for the tax fixing?

         18                 MS. ANGELO: There will be two votes.

         19  One vote on the local law at the request of the

         20  Mayor, and the second vote will be on a unified

         21  budget modification containing both the expense mod,

         22  the revenue mod, the tax-fixing resolution, which

         23  lowers the tax burden on class 1, and as the second

         24  part of the tax fixing, that portion of the

         25  resolution which raises the property tax. So, it is
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          2  one resolution.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We have a number

          4  of people that signed up to testify, so I'm going to

          5  allow them to come forward.

          6                 I'm going to take --

          7                 MR. ANGELO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          9                 And if anybody additional would like

         10  to testify pro or con, please see the

         11  Sergeant-At-Arms immediately.

         12                 I'm going to limit the testimony to

         13  three minutes because we have a time constraint.

         14                 The first witness testifying against

         15  the resolution is John Doyle, from the Real Estate

         16  Board of New York.

         17                 MR. DOYLE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 I'd just like to make a few quick

         19  points, if I can.

         20                 The Mayor in his speech proposing

         21  this budget mod indicated that it was time for all

         22  New Yorkers to pay their fair share of whatever is

         23  necessary to resolve these budget difficulties.

         24                 I'd like to point out to you that the

         25  property tax is not a fair tax, it's an asset-based
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          2  tax. It has nothing to do with anybody's ability to

          3  pay that tax, and so the value of your home might

          4  have increased over the last ten years four-fold,

          5  but certainly your income hasn't. And, so, on the

          6  basis of fairness, I'd suggest to you that if

          7  revenue is necessary, certainly it should not be a

          8  property tax increase of this magnitude.

          9                 Secondly, I'd like to point out to

         10  you a study by the Independent Budget Office.

         11  They've indicated that New York City is the highest

         12  taxed major City in the nation, and they calculated

         13  that on the basis of $100 of taxable resources.

         14  They've indicated that New York City pays $7.99 per

         15  $100 of taxable resources.

         16                 I would next like to point out to you

         17  that we have the highest commercial property tax in

         18  the nation. That in New York City, currently,

         19  without this increase, it's $12.38 per square foot.

         20  In New Jersey it's $3.00 per square foot.

         21                 And lastly, in line with that, I'd

         22  like to point out to you the predictable long-term

         23  consequences of this.

         24                 The Manhattan Institute estimated an

         25  intensive study a little while ago what the impact
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          2  of a 25 percent property tax increase would be, and

          3  have extrapolated those numbers and it suggests that

          4  we could lose as many as 54,000 jobs as a result of

          5  this tax increase, and that, my friends, is why it

          6  should not be passed. Because of the other things

          7  that I've said about this, the fact that the

          8  commercial rent tax is the highest, the fact that

          9  we're the most overtaxed major City in the nation,

         10  we cannot afford to pass a tax, a property tax, it's

         11  a short-term solution.

         12                 I'd also have a question or two, if I

         13  may, of sorts.

         14                 If I understood the prior testimony,

         15  and the comments made by the Chair at the beginning

         16  of this meeting, we seem to be looking for a tax

         17  revenue of $839 million, and we seem to have expense

         18  reductions of 840 million. Am I right on the

         19  numbers? More or less. So, that equals a gap closing

         20  total of $1.6 million.

         21                 I also heard testimony to suggest

         22  that the actual gap this year was $1,073,000,000.

         23  Also accurate. So that means that you are either

         24  reducing spending, or raising revenue by in excess

         25  of $606 million.

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 Now, that may be good fiscal practice

          3  to do that, in terms of going forward, but I think

          4  that there are some serious concerns in the City

          5  Charter about it, and I direct your attention to

          6  Section 1516 of the City Charter, Subsection A. Let

          7  me just read it to you quickly.

          8                 "The Council shall fix the annual tax

          9  rate immediately upon approval of the budget

         10  pursuant to Section 254.

         11                 The Council shall deduct the total

         12  amount of receipts as estimated by the Mayor from

         13  the amount of the budget for the ensuing year, and

         14  shall caused to be raised by tax on real property

         15  such sum as shall be as nearly as possible, but not

         16  less than the balance so arrived at by fixing tax

         17  rates in cents and thousands of a cents upon each

         18  dollar assessed valuation."

         19                 Well, here comes the clincher. "The

         20  tax rates shall be such to produce a balanced budget

         21  within generally accepted accounting principals for

         22  municipalities."

         23                 And, so, by passing an 18 percent tax

         24  rate, you are in fact raising $606 million more than

         25  you need to balance this year's deficit, and I
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          2  wonder what will happen in the longrun insofar as

          3  what this provision of the Charter has to say.

          4                 It's unnecessary. It's unsound fiscal

          5  policy.

          6                 Lastly, I'd like to make a few

          7  comments about the process.

          8                 I sit here today without a copy of

          9  the tax-fixing resolution in front of me, without a

         10  copy of the budget mod in front of me. It's no big

         11  deal, it's the way things are normally done.

         12                 But the way things are also normally

         13  done, is when the Council considers important

         14  legislation or sometimes minor legislation, it goes

         15  out of its way to invite people to participate in

         16  the process.

         17                 Come and testify.

         18                 So, I have here, and please don't

         19  mistake me for Joe McCarthy, I have here a list.

         20  It's a list of several hundred business and civic

         21  organizations that we've compiled in trying to build

         22  a coalition to come in here and testify about this

         23  unreasonable property tax increase. And yet, as far

         24  as I know, none of these people, whose names and

         25  associations are publicly available was invited to
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          2  come here and testify today.

          3                 So, I wonder, as I sit here by

          4  myself, I'm fairly sure that most of the people

          5  testifying behind me will be testifying in favor of

          6  it, I wonder where Maria Russo from the Arverne

          7  Civic Council is; where Janet Brady from the Beach

          8  and Bay Association is; where Louis Colorado from

          9  the Bound Park Civic Association is; where Victor

         10  Hernandez is from the Corona Community Civic

         11  Association?

         12                 Well, I guess I could read the rest

         13  of them, but there's quite a few. I highlighted some

         14  but I know that you're pressed for time and you want

         15  to get moving.

         16                 This is the largest tax increase in

         17  the history of the City of New York, and yet you're

         18  passing it without even consulting with the people

         19  who are affected by it, other than me.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Doyle, in

         22  response to your question about the Charter, we've

         23  reviewed it and we've been told that we are acting

         24  within generally accepted accounting principles.

         25                 I believe Council Member Fidler had a
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          2  question?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Good

          4  afternoon, John.

          5                 MR. DOYLE: Councilman.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: 19,705 post

          7  cards and phone calls into my district later, I hope

          8  we're still friends.

          9                 I'm just curious whether or not in

         10  reading the provision of the Charter that you're

         11  suggesting that it's ever fiscally imprudent to be

         12  running a surplus or a rainy day fund, as this

         13  Council did prior to 9/11.

         14                 I understand that we had a half a

         15  billion dollar rainy day fund in this City that was

         16  wiped out in 90 days of 9/11; are you suggesting the

         17  Charter prohibits us from doing that?

         18                 MR. DOYLE: I'm not an attorney,

         19  Councilman, and so I couldn't account on the legal

         20  end of it, but I can on the policy end of it, and I

         21  guess that's the point I was trying to make.

         22                 You're doing something that seems to

         23  be outside the Charter. The Chairman has clarified

         24  it, he says it's generally accepted accounting

         25  principles. I'm not an accountant, I can't comment
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          2  on that either.

          3                 I do know, though, that this would be

          4  an extreme rarity for the Council to look to levy

          5  property taxes beyond what's necessary to solve the

          6  one-year problem. And if you're going to do that,

          7  all the more reason you should be inviting the

          8  people who will be paying it, or their

          9  representatives in here to talk about it, these

         10  couple of hundred business and civic associations

         11  that I have in front of me.

         12                 It's really more of a comment about

         13  how things are being done, than whether or not it's

         14  a good idea in terms of the budget or whether or not

         15  it's legally permissible.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I would just

         17  wonder how much criticism we would take as a Council

         18  if we looked until June 30th with blinders on and

         19  said that's the end of the problem, we're done, we

         20  don't have to look at the future beyond that, as to

         21  whether or not that would be a fiscally responsible

         22  thing to do either.

         23                 I understand your points about the

         24  process and I think you understand the urgency of

         25  the situation in terms of when the tax bills go out
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          2  and why the process has been truncated.

          3                 You know, you're kind of damned if

          4  you do and damned if you don't, and if we weren't

          5  looking at the long-term problem we'd be criticized

          6  for that, and now you're telling us because we are

          7  looking at the long-term problem, that we're

          8  overtaxing because in the short-term it's not

          9  necessary.

         10                 So, I mean, none of us here, and I'll

         11  speak for myself, I know I will vote for a tax

         12  increase with the greatest of reluctance and

         13  unhappiness, but you can't have it both ways in this

         14  world, you either are responsible and look toward

         15  the long term solutions to a problem that's not

         16  going to go away on June 30th, 2003, or not.

         17                 MR. DOYLE: I understand your point,

         18  Councilman, and I wouldn't dispute the need to look

         19  towards the future. What I am concerned about is the

         20  sense of urgency that seems to be propelling this

         21  process.

         22                 If you look in the Charter once

         23  again, you'll see the date set in the Charter for

         24  generation of new property bills is normally June

         25  5th I believe, and so when it contemplates bills
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          2  going out for July 1st payable, it allows into June

          3  5th, one would think that we would have at least

          4  until December 5th to consider this, and we've known

          5  for some time now that the Mayor is proposing a 25

          6  percent property tax increase.

          7                 And we know that the Council was

          8  going to be doing some sort of property tax

          9  increase. Really the only point I'm making is that

         10  there was ample opportunity to invite in these

         11  groups and that hasn't been done.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         13  by two additional colleagues; Council Member Mike

         14  McMahon from Staten Island, and Council Member Tracy

         15  Boyland from Brooklyn.

         16                 Council Member DeBlasio.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 Mr. Doyle, I appreciate that you have

         20  been a responsible voice in this debate, and I know,

         21  as my colleague said a moment ago, none of us look

         22  at this matter lightly. We've all talked to hundreds

         23  of our constituents about it in the course of the

         24  last two weeks, and we know there's very strong

         25  feelings on both sides of this issue.
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          2                 But let's look in the bigger picture,

          3  and I'd be interested in your blunt assessment of

          4  it.

          5                 For over a year now, leaders in New

          6  York City have appealed to President Bush to look at

          7  the situation since 9/11 and not just talk about the

          8  physical reconstruction of downtown but the impact

          9  on the City budget; look at direct aid to the City

         10  to help fill the obvious gap that was created by the

         11  fall off in tax revenues as it related directly to

         12  9/11.

         13                 With all due respect to the

         14  President, it's been a consistent answer that that

         15  was off the table and would not be considered by the

         16  federal government.

         17                 On the State level recently the Mayor

         18  put forward what I think was a very creative

         19  approach to looking at the commuter tax and the

         20  income tax structure in general. It was fairly

         21  soundly attacked by various leaders in Albany,

         22  although I will give the Governor credit for not

         23  entirely turning it down, it does appear the Senate

         24  Majority Leader has turned it down out of hand, so

         25  it's very hard to believe that a just action will
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          2  occur on the commuter tax, and it's certainly hard

          3  to believe we could bank on that as a City

          4  government.

          5                 And it's also hard to project, if you

          6  look at another alternative, the personal income

          7  tax, it's hard to see rosy picture there in Albany,

          8  given the action we've seen already to the commuter

          9  tax.

         10                 So, it leaves us in the position,

         11  whether you're talking about a vote today or a vote

         12  two days later on December 5th, whatever day it is,

         13  it leaves us in a position where we have to act

         14  quickly, and we have to act on the assumption that

         15  we're essentially going it alone.

         16                 The responsible thing for us to do is

         17  to, you know, work from the well-known idea God

         18  bless the child who's got his own, we are the only

         19  entity that can save ourselves, and I think the

         20  people believe we have to act responsibly in this

         21  environment and make sure that essential services

         22  are not compromised.

         23                 So, the question in all that is, do

         24  you disagree, either with my understanding of the

         25  federal picture or the state picture, do you
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          2  disagree with the idea that there's no other evident

          3  financial relief coming at this point?

          4                 MR. DOYLE: I would agree that there's

          5  no other evident fiscal relief coming today.

          6                 I am hopeful that the Speaker of the

          7  Council and the Mayor will be able to speak to other

          8  localities that find themselves in a similar

          9  situation to what we do to perhaps promote a

         10  national revenue sharing program.

         11                 I know that it's on the Speaker's

         12  mind, and it's a sound suggestion.

         13                 There's I believe a majority of

         14  states in this nation that are currently looking at

         15  budget deficits, and so what we need is a national

         16  coalition, not based on what was done here to us,

         17  but rather on the compelling need insofar as the

         18  economy is concerned.

         19                 It doesn't solve the problems today,

         20  whether the state will impose, reimpose the commuter

         21  tax and whether it will be at .45 percent or five

         22  times that amount, they're not even in session, who

         23  can tell, and whether they'll agree to do an income

         24  tax surcharge on residents of New York City, it's

         25  impossible to tell. I'm not trying to suggest that
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          2  it would not be prudent fiscal policy to raise

          3  property taxes, beyond the needs of this year. I'm

          4  only suggesting that it's important, I believe, to

          5  consult those people directly who would be affected

          6  by it.

          7                 These names I came up with, they were

          8  very easy to come by. They really are publicly

          9  available, and they're representatives. And if I

         10  gave you this list now and suggested that you get on

         11  the phone and call all 200 of them, I can't even

         12  predict what their answer may be. They may say,

         13  great, double the tax.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Very

         15  briefly, we, again, have been having this

         16  conversation for many weeks in our districts, and,

         17  again, I think you make your point in a constructive

         18  manner, but we've been having this conversation,

         19  there's a great deal of mixed feeling in our

         20  neighborhoods, as you can imagine, but one common

         21  theme I've heard in my very overwhelmingly

         22  home-owner district is, I'm willing to pay a little

         23  more to make sure that our fire service, our police

         24  service, our schools, et cetera, are not cut past

         25  the point that we can live with.
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          2                 So, I think the people have thought

          3  about this. I think there's a lot of hesitation out

          4  there but there's also understanding of the type of

          5  crisis we're in and what caused it, as opposed to

          6  the crises in the past that may have been self

          7  created, this one is not self created.

          8                 And I guess the bottom line, I want

          9  to just hone your answer on Albany and Washington,

         10  responsible decision-makers have to look at things

         11  with a cold eye. Don't you agree there is absolutely

         12  no guarantee of further aid from Washington or

         13  Albany in any form.

         14                 Today, making a decision today, we

         15  have no reason to believe that there is a guarantee,

         16  even if we form the most wonderful coalition in the

         17  world, there's no guarantee that Washington or

         18  Albany will provide any of the relief in the

         19  short-term.

         20                 MR. DOYLE: I think it depends upon

         21  what your definition of the short-term is.

         22                 If you're talking about addressing

         23  the budget deficit for the current fiscal year, it's

         24  likely you're correct.

         25                 If you're talking about addressing
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          2  the larger budget deficit for the next fiscal year,

          3  then I guess I'd have to say if we can't get that

          4  type of aid from some place, then we will run a

          5  deficit. We will not have -- or you will wind up

          6  cutting agencies by so much that nobody will want to

          7  live here.

          8                 So, I guess I'm optimistic enough to

          9  say, there has to be some help out there somewhere

         10  because we're not going to be able to do it without

         11  mandate relief, without a consideration for other

         12  taxes being on the property tax.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: But if you

         14  were sitting over here, you'd have to say to

         15  yourself there's no guarantee this year or next year

         16  because no one has given us a guarantee, correct?

         17                 MR. DOYLE: I'd say there was no

         18  guarantee for this year, and next year, rather than

         19  saying no guarantee, I'd turn it around and say it's

         20  probably likely we will get it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Doyle, I'd

         22  like to point out that we didn't invite anybody to

         23  testify, people just came forward, so if that list

         24  was available to you, you could have asked those

         25  individuals to come just as easily as we could have,
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          2  because we didn't really invite any of these other

          3  people.

          4                 Council Member Quinn.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          6                 I have two questions. It's a little

          7  bit of a follow-up to the dialogue you and Council

          8  Member DeBlasio were just having about the need for

          9  revenue sharing and federal assistance and state

         10  assistance to help the City right now and then

         11  perhaps even more important to help us get out of

         12  next fiscal year's enormous hole.

         13                 What is the campaign that REBNY is

         14  planning to make sure that happens?

         15                 You obviously had a very well

         16  orchestrated and well financed campaign to try to

         17  prevent the property tax from being increased. So,

         18  I'm just interested, since you seem as committed to

         19  the goals that you and Council Member DeBlasio

         20  discussed, as you were committed in your, you know,

         21  and certainly that's your right, to the goal of

         22  preventing the property tax from being increased,

         23  what type of campaign will we be able to work with

         24  you on to make sure Albany and Washington give us

         25  that type of relief?
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          2                 Are we talking about 15,000 post

          3  cards, phone banks, help with buses to Albany,

          4  what's your grassroots plan on that?

          5                 MR. DOYLE: We haven't got a plan yet,

          6  Council member.

          7                 I mean, obviously this thing arrived

          8  very -- I wouldn't say suddenly, because we knew

          9  that the budget mod was going to be proposed, but

         10  the timing between the announcement of the proposed

         11  tax increase and the date of likely adoption of some

         12  sort of tax increase was so short that we focused on

         13  what needed to be done in the short term.

         14                 It's our intent to sit down and talk

         15  after Thanksgiving.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Great.

         17                 MR. DOYLE: And discuss what can be

         18  done next and what should be done next.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Great. So, we

         20  would be interested in working hard in a coordinated

         21  fashion to try to exert significant pressure on

         22  Albany and Washington to focus them on the need to

         23  help fill the City's budget gap and give us the

         24  financial support we need.

         25                 MR. DOYLE: Again, we haven't sat down
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          2  and talked about it. I can't make the commitment

          3  until that happens.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

          5                 Well, if you could obviously let us

          6  know as soon as you have those discussions, you

          7  know, as all of my colleagues have said, no one is

          8  going to vote for this tax increase lightly or

          9  happily, and nobody wants New Yorkers to have to pay

         10  extra taxes, but this is a dire situation, and when

         11  the choices are closing hospitals or closing

         12  clinics, you have to choose the lesser of two evils,

         13  obviously you had to rally for the support of your

         14  members, the degree to which we could, all of us

         15  together, be focused on one tangible goal that will

         16  prevent us from having to have these very same

         17  choices a few short months from now, the better it

         18  will be for all New Yorkers.

         19                 So, I would love to have, I know I

         20  would and I think I speak for everybody, have those

         21  discussions with you and your membership and

         22  leadership.

         23                 MR. DOYLE: I would also have a

         24  suggestion for you, Council Member, if I may be so

         25  bold?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sure.

          3                 MR. DOYLE: I think that you put your

          4  finger on it, and Councilman DeBlasio as well. He's

          5  indicated that people would be willing to pay more

          6  taxes if it avoided a cut in services that were

          7  important to them. And you've indicated that you've

          8  had a choice between raising taxes and some of the

          9  cuts that were named. What I wonder about is what

         10  wasn't discussed.

         11                 What I wonder about is what's out

         12  there, why is it we talk about the most dire

         13  consequences that are possible? Are we to assume

         14  that they were the ones that were least painful?

         15  That everything else in those agencies were more

         16  important than the cuts that were proposed? We both

         17  know that's not the case.

         18                 We also know you weren't given enough

         19  time to do a completely thorough review.

         20                 My suggestion, if I could be bold

         21  enough to make it, is that over the next several

         22  months and outside the normal budget calendar, it

         23  would be extremely useful, in terms of the

         24  confidence that the public has in the process, if

         25  the Council would engage in a series of reviews of
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          2  the agencies and ask them to justify, not what they

          3  were willing to give up, but what they weren't

          4  willing to give up.

          5                 You might find in the longrun that

          6  there's quite a few cuts out there that are possible

          7  and far less painful than things that have been

          8  publicized.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, let me

         10  just say this.

         11                 I mean, I think reviewing what

         12  agencies do and where fat can be trimmed is always a

         13  good idea, and, in fact, that's a lot of what the

         14  Committees do in oversight throughout the whole

         15  year. And you know, certainly everybody knew the

         16  budget was going to be bad this year, it was bad

         17  when we passed it in June and the Committee, I think

         18  if you looked at the schedule of what the

         19  Committee's have been doing, there has been a lot of

         20  that going on. Unfortunately, given the past few

         21  years there isn't as much fat as there used to be,

         22  or as much left in the budget that is easily

         23  expendable as it used to be. Absolutely we should

         24  consider doing that, I just think it's really not as

         25  obvious a chore, even if one had, you know, endless
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          2  time to look at it as it used to be.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. DOYLE: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          6  Vallone. The last question for this witness.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.

          9                 Very quickly. Mr. DeBlasio, I agree

         10  with you that there is no guarantee of any money

         11  from the federal or state government. That's because

         12  there hasn't been enough effort made in that regard

         13  yet, that's my opinion, and by elected officials or

         14  by groups like REBY, and I look forward to working

         15  with you to change those structural inequities that

         16  exist right now which need to be changed on the

         17  federal and state level.

         18                 I want to thank you for your help

         19  also in trying to get this tax to be a temporary

         20  one. I have not received a written memorandum of

         21  understanding that I've been attempting to get,

         22  however, you should know that I've personally spoken

         23  to the Speaker, I've personally spoken to the Mayor

         24  this morning and received face-to-face pledges that

         25  as soon as the City is financially able to, that
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          2  they will make every effort to roll back this tax.

          3  And if I wind up voting for it, it will be because

          4  of those pledges.

          5                 MR. DOYLE: Thank you, Council Member.

          6  And I'd like to commend you for your efforts. You've

          7  certainly taken the lead on this issue and it's an

          8  important one.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, I next have

         10  a series of individuals that are going to speak in

         11  favor of the bills, resolutions. I'm going to call

         12  them up in a panel, in the interest of saving time,

         13  because we're waiting for a full Council session.

         14                 So, we're going to need six seats up

         15  there. Seven seats.

         16                 Robert Ungar; Judy Wessler; Edith

         17  Holzer; Gail Nayowith; Patricia Villasenior; Sister

         18  Paulette LoMonaco; and Jim Marleq.

         19                 I'm going to entertain a three-minute

         20  statement from each of the individuals, and we'll

         21  selectively ask questions of those that we want to

         22  ask questions of.

         23                 Okay, why don't we start on this

         24  side.

         25                 Introduce yourself, and also identify
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          2  the organization you are affiliated with, if you are

          3  affiliated with an organization.

          4                 SISTER LOMONACO: Good afternoon. My

          5  name is Sister Paulette LoMonoco. I'm the Executive

          6  Director for over 22 years of Good Shepard Services.

          7  I'm also a member of the Neighborhood Family

          8  Services Coalition and COFCCA.

          9                 First of all, I want to start out by

         10  thanking an congratulating this City Council for

         11  taking a very, very courageous step to protect our

         12  City's most vulnerable young people and families.

         13                 You, by the budget modification, you

         14  have taken action that needed to be taken to make

         15  sure that New York is safe for all of its members -

         16  abused and neglected children, young people who need

         17  beacons and after school programs, young people in

         18  need of foster care, parents who otherwise would

         19  have their children removed, you have taken a very,

         20  very courageous step.

         21                 It's the strong fabric of

         22  neighborhood-based services that our City has worked

         23  so hard to put together that was really at risk, and

         24  it was the strong fabric of neighborhood services

         25  that kept the City together after 9/11.
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          2                 I think you need to be aware that

          3  that strong network was very much at risk by the

          4  cuts that were proposed in particular to ACS and to

          5  DYCD and it is a great tribute to all of you, and on

          6  behalf of children and families, I want to thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          9  Sister.

         10                 MS. VILLASENOR: Hi. My name is

         11  Patricia Villasenor, I'm with United Neighborhood

         12  Houses, and United Neighborhood Houses is a

         13  federation of 37 settlement houses located

         14  throughout New York City that provide a diverse

         15  number of services including child care, youth

         16  programs and senior services.

         17                 We applaud the City Council for

         18  agreeing to restore crucial funding for social

         19  services for New Yorkers throughout the City;

         20  however, one issue that is of concern to us is the

         21  upcoming Fiscal Year '04. Although we know that

         22  today you will be voting on the FY '03 budget, we

         23  feel that it is just as important to focus attention

         24  on the coming of the FY '04 budget. We know that the

         25  fiscal outlook for the coming year and bleak and
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          2  that budget cuts will again be considered; however,

          3  we urge you to once again protect the services that

          4  our City's working families depend on, like child

          5  care, after school programs, and senior services.

          6                 We know that this is just the

          7  beginning of a very difficult time that's ahead of

          8  us, it will be a difficult time for you guys to make

          9  decisions, but it will also be a time where more

         10  City residents will have to rely on community-based

         11  services like those provided by Settlement Houses.

         12  So we ask that you once again protect essential

         13  community services in the coming fiscal year.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         16                 MS. NAYOWITH: My name is Gail

         17  Nayowith. I'm the Executive Director of Citizens

         18  Committee for Children of New York, and I want to

         19  thank the Council and extend our deep appreciation

         20  for your efforts to save core services to children,

         21  youth and families.

         22                 The restoration package that you

         23  produce sends a clear message to your constituents

         24  and to all New Yorkers about the critically

         25  important role that family services, like child
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          2  care, preventive and foster care services, youth

          3  services, child health services play in enabling

          4  families to live, work and raise their children

          5  here.

          6                 We are truly grateful for the heroic

          7  length that the Council has gone to protect children

          8  from the deep and harsh budget cuts.

          9                 Clearly, the difficult budget choices

         10  that you are asked to make this week are only a

         11  precursor to the difficult budget choices ahead.

         12                 We, at Citizens' Committee for

         13  Children, are prepared to step up and do our part to

         14  advance the City's revenue package with you and the

         15  Mayor in Albany and in Washington, and to work with

         16  you and the City agencies, to continue to work with

         17  you and the City agencies to identify creative ways

         18  to raise money, identify alternative revenues and

         19  save money.

         20                 I just want to say thank you, again,

         21  and tell you that we are more committed than ever to

         22  continuing to work with you, and we thank you so

         23  much for all of your hard work and deliberations

         24  this week.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. UNGAR: Good afternoon. I'm Robert

          3  Ungar. I'm here today as legislative counsel to the

          4  Uniformed EMTs and Paramedics in the New York City

          5  Fire Department, and also as Counsel to Local 983 of

          6  District Council 37, which represents Parks

          7  Department employees and other employees in the

          8  City.

          9                 I was making a list of people to

         10  thank and I had to cut it really short, because

         11  time, and because I don't want to consult anybody,

         12  but I want to thank Speaker Miller, Chairman Weprin,

         13  Majority Leader Rivera, and the higher leadership

         14  team, as well as Councilwoman Clarke, our Chairwoman

         15  of the Fire and EMS Committee, and Christine Quinn

         16  and Health for the time and study that they gave the

         17  EMS cuts.

         18                 When we went into this process there

         19  were eight firehouses and 37 EMS tours on the block,

         20  and we came out of the process with those firehouse

         21  closings on hold, with the 37 EMS tours restored. We

         22  think that the City Council did an excellent job in

         23  analyzing the public safety risks that were inherent

         24  in those budget cuts, and to have been able to take

         25  the time to see this and to work this out with the
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          2  Mayor so that the people in New York City will wake

          3  up tomorrow morning with the same number of fire

          4  engines that they go to bed with the night before,

          5  and with the same kind of Fire Department ambulance

          6  coverage that they went to bed with the night

          7  before, is a great credit to this body as a whole.

          8                 We feel that, you know, there's more

          9  to be done but that's a next year thing and we'll be

         10  back at it again I'm sure, but we want you to know

         11  that we appreciate the work that you did for us and

         12  we appreciate the fact that you took a look at the

         13  revenue numbers at EMS, that you saw that we went

         14  from 27 million in collection to where we're

         15  projecting well over 100 million in collections

         16  within the first year of getting an agency on board

         17  to collect the bills from insurance companies. I

         18  mean, EMS should be a revenue-producing agency, and

         19  it is for other cities, and we're glad that you

         20  looked at that, we're glad that you looked at the 2

         21  million runs a year that EMS does in New York City

         22  with only 2,500 people, and decided that it was a

         23  service that was worth saving.

         24                 So, on behalf of all of those

         25  members, we thank you.
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          2                 And in closing I'll just say that you

          3  also did an excellent job at keeping our City's

          4  parks safe for our kids, because the seasonal park

          5  workers who were folks that actually maintain and

          6  clean the parks and keep them safe and keep the

          7  vermin away and keep the glass bottles away, were

          8  restored in this budget, and on behalf of Local 983

          9  and the children that we work with every day in the

         10  parks across New York City, we thank you for that

         11  restoration as well.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Ungar.

         15                 MS. HOLZER: My name is Edith Holzer,

         16  and I'm with the Council of Family and Child Caring

         17  Agencies, COFCCA. It's an association of nearly all

         18  the not-for-profits in New York City, providing

         19  foster care services to 90 percent of the children

         20  in legal custody of the City, children who have been

         21  removed because of abuse and neglect, and an

         22  association of the preventive services providers,

         23  like Sister Paulette who just spoke here, who worked

         24  very hard in all the communities of the City to keep

         25  families at risk together.
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          2                 And we want to thank you very much on

          3  behalf of the children and families who receive the

          4  services and on behalf of the Board members of the

          5  not-for-profit agencies, who sent a letter to Mayor

          6  Bloomberg asking him to preserve these services,

          7  full well understanding what the costs would be, but

          8  also prioritizing the needs of children and families

          9  in this City and the quality of life. And we thank

         10  the Council very much for your actions on behalf of

         11  people living in this City and the quality of life

         12  in this City and we know you have a difficult task

         13  ahead and we appreciate that what you've done now

         14  will hopefully minimize the problems that we will

         15  see in the future, and we want to offer our support,

         16  just as other people have in addressing the state

         17  and the federal government and identifying the

         18  programs that have been assisting people who have

         19  been very adversely affected by the events of

         20  September 11th, the attack on New York City.

         21                 So, again, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Holzer.

         24                 Ms. Wessler.

         25                 MS. WESSLER: My name is Judy Wessler
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          2  and I am the Director of the Commission on the

          3  Public's Health System.

          4                 And on Saturday I was outside, you

          5  wouldn't let us in, and it was cold, and then I went

          6  home and had in my mail, and I live in Christine

          7  Quinn's district, I had in my mail a letter, I guess

          8  it was from the Real Estate Board, although they did

          9  not represent themselves that way, and I live in a

         10  co-op building, although I'm a tenant, and I did not

         11  buy my apartment, asking me to send you postcards to

         12  tell you to please not do this proposed increase,

         13  and I --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You could tell us

         15  in person.

         16                 MS. WESSLER: I'm sorry?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I said you could

         18  tell us in person now.

         19                 MS. WESSLER: No. I am here to say

         20  that I wonder how much of a different reaction there

         21  possibly would have been if there was a contrast of

         22  these taxes as opposed to making some of the cuts,

         23  and changes that you've heard about, both from the

         24  panel and the other things. We do public health and

         25  are concerned about that. We were concerned about
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          2  the ambulances, you also put back some money for

          3  outpatient medications, and I, you know, wish that

          4  people would think about somebody who's diabetic or

          5  hypertensive, leaving a hospital without their

          6  medicine and the infant mortality rates going up,

          7  and you restored that if there had been that kind of

          8  balance in the letters that the Real Estate Board

          9  sent out there perhaps could be a different

         10  reaction.

         11                 We have serious needs in this City

         12  for access to health care services, more of the

         13  private sector is turning people away if they don't

         14  have insurance, more people are losing their health

         15  insurance. Our public system is very, very critical,

         16  and we, as others have said, stand committed to work

         17  with the Council at the State and the federal level

         18  to see what additional revenues we can bring in.

         19                 Thank you. And thank you is the main

         20  message of my talk.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         22  Wessler.

         23                 MR. MARLEY: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Jim Marley. I direct the community programs at

         25  Pius Bronx Community Service, which is a network of
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          2  Neighgborhood programs throughout the Bronx, and I'm

          3  here speaking for the Neighborhood Family Services

          4  Coalition, which for 20 years now has worked to

          5  preserve services for families and neighborhoods.

          6                 I'm here to thank the Council. This

          7  was a tremendous action that you took in the name of

          8  people who are powerless. We in beacon preventatives

          9  have 1,200 families at risk. They had nowhere else

         10  to go and you stood up for them.

         11                 The 80 beacons, as you know, serve

         12  almost every community in our City, most of them

         13  serve over 1,500 children a year, that's 100,000

         14  families.

         15                 Our City faces very difficult

         16  choices. We're really proud of this Council. We will

         17  work with you, certainly, in the months ahead in

         18  Albany.

         19                 I was thinking about the name beacon,

         20  the name was picked and the model they use sometimes

         21  is the lighthouse, it's the light in the night that

         22  attracts people. This is a City of immigrants, of

         23  many needy families, and the Council has kept the

         24  lights on and we really thank you for that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Marley.

          3                 Okay, if any members have questions,

          4  could you just direct them at a specific individual,

          5  if possible. Any questions from my colleagues? Okay,

          6  thank you very much.

          7                 Okay, I'm now going to call upon Jim

          8  Caras, Counsel to the Finance Committee, to explain

          9  to everybody exactly what they'll be voting as they

         10  vote. So, it's a little complicated.

         11                 So, Mr. Caras.

         12                 MR. CARAS: Okay, the roll will be

         13  called to vote to approve two items. First, Intro.

         14  No. 317-A, which is the proposed local law by

         15  request of the Mayor to provide for the levy and

         16  collection of the additional real property taxes.

         17                 Second will be MN 2 and MN3 will be

         18  companion Resolution, the thick Resolution in your

         19  packets, and that resolution approves the two budget

         20  modifications, the revenue and expense modification,

         21  and amends the property tax fixing resolution, and

         22  the adjusted base proportions and the current base

         23  proportions, both for the change Albany made to

         24  lower the cap on the increase in Class 1 properties

         25  from five percent to two percent, as well as it
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          2  approves the changes to the tax-fixing resolution to

          3  approve the mid-year property tax increase.

          4                 So, those are the two items you'll be

          5  approving, and then voting to file and then 1, which

          6  is the initial expense modification which was

          7  withdrawn by the Mayor. That's all in one roll call,

          8  the two items to approve and the one to file.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, Council

         10  Member Provenzano.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: At the

         12  request of several of us, if we could get Jim just

         13  to explain that lowering the cap business?

         14                 MR. CARAS: In the state real property

         15  tax law, the increase in share of the property tax

         16  borne by any class of real property, we have class 1

         17  which is one-, two-, three-family, class 2, which is

         18  multiple dwellings, co-ops and condos, class 3 which

         19  is utilities, and class 4 is commercial, cannot

         20  increase over the -- it can't bear a bigger

         21  proportion of the entire property tax pie, more than

         22  five percent of what it bore last year.

         23                 Class 1 properties without this cap

         24  would have born an eight percent increase in the

         25  property tax.
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          2                 However, after the initial property

          3  tax resolutions were passed in June, we requested

          4  Albany to lower that cap from five percent to two

          5  percent.

          6                 So, instead of bearing an additional

          7  five percent increase over its proportion last year,

          8  it will only bear an additional two percent increase

          9  of the full property tax burden over last year.

         10                 Okay, class 1 would have borne under

         11  the five percent cap.

         12                 MS. FELTON: They save $135.

         13                 MR. CARAS: Under the two percent cap

         14  as opposed to the five percent cap, the average

         15  class 1 home saves $135.

         16                 Nadine, why don't you go up front.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: This is Nadine

         18  Felton from the Finance Division, and Larian Angelo,

         19  Director of Finance.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Give us an

         21  example.

         22                 MS. FELTON: I misspoke a minute ago.

         23  Let me get my chart.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's okay, you

         25  weren't on the record.
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          2                 MS. FELTON: Good.

          3                 When we adopted the rates, as Jim

          4  explained, on June 21st, we did not at that time

          5  have approval from the State to lower this cap on

          6  class share increases from five percent to two

          7  percent. So this meant that your average home-owner

          8  -- in actually lowering this cap, if you take the

          9  Fiscal 2003 bill before the second part of the

         10  tax-fixing resolution is applied, which includes the

         11  increase in the rate, the increase in the rate, the

         12  savings would have been for your typical home-owner,

         13  and that's on your typical list, that's where the

         14  market value, it's about 245,000 Citywide, of about

         15  $53. So, this action has helped class 1, because we

         16  lowered their cap from five percent to two percent

         17  and it resulted in that tax savings. Otherwise

         18  they'd be paying that $53 more than they would have.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank they

         20  would now with the lowering cap.

         21                 MS. FELTON: That's right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         24  DeBlasio.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you.
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          2                 So, just to put this in perspective,

          3  give us the average -- this may be more of a Larian

          4  question.

          5                 The final average on the increase,

          6  we're talking about today the average per class 1

          7  homeowner on the 18 percent, and I assume you minus

          8  $53 from it and that gives you the grand total.

          9                 MS. ANGELO: For the average class 1

         10  home-owner, the result of all the actions will be an

         11  increase for this year of $171, for the average

         12  co-op it will be an increase of $248.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: So that's

         14  after this cap is taken into account?

         15                 MS. ANGELO: Yes, because you're doing

         16  several actions at once. I'd say you're changing the

         17  rate, you're moving the class share burden around,

         18  so you're doing two things at the same time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: The change

         20  is permanent or time limited?

         21                 MS. ANGELO: The cap has to be done

         22  every year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Okay. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Mr.
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          2  Chairman?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          4  Provenano.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Just to

          6  simplify it, as it was explained to me, so by

          7  approving lowering the cap, class 1 properties

          8  actually have a lower tax than they would have if we

          9  didn't lower the cap?

         10                 MS. ANGELO: Absolutely, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         13  Brewer, did you have a question?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, I did.

         15                 Being from Manhattan, does this

         16  further exasperate the difference between the single

         17  family and the co-ops condo? There's already a

         18  challenge there.

         19                 MS. ANGELO: No. In the last years

         20  request to lower the burden on class 1, class 2 was

         21  held harmless, there was no change, there was no

         22  impact on them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We will proceed

         24  to a vote.

         25                 Call the roll.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Weprin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Boyland.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Let me just

          6  understand this.

          7                 317-A local law is for the fixed

          8  taxes, for the old law, to have it removed. Then

          9  coming back to MN 1 is to get rid of that law; and

         10  then coming to MN 2 and MN 3 is to approve the 18

         11  percent; am I correct on that pretty much?

         12                 MR. CARAS: The local law is to

         13  authorize the tax increase.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay.

         15                 MR. CARAS: The MN 1 is being filed,

         16  the Mayor's original budget mod that he has

         17  withdrawn, so it's being followed pursuant to his

         18  letter of withdrawal.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: To change it,

         20  okay.

         21                 MR. CARAS: And it's substituted by MN

         22  2 and MN 3, so the third item is the resolution that

         23  approves MN 2 and MN 3, as well as the changes to

         24  the tax fixing.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay, I think
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          2  I understand it. I vote aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye on

          5  all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Quinn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye on all.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Moskowitz.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rivera.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Comrie.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: May I be

         14  excused to explain my vote?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

         17  congratulate the Finance Committee, and I want to

         18  highlight that this process was not done behind

         19  closed doors, or done without community input, or

         20  done without the full knowledge and opportunity for

         21  our communities to talk to us. All of us are that

         22  are responsible legislators have had meetings with

         23  civic groups, we've had meetings with all of the

         24  institutional people that would have been affected

         25  by these budget cuts. We've had meetings with the

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  firefighters, we've had meetings with hospital

          3  workers. We've had meetings.

          4                 This is not done in a vacuum. It's

          5  being done because it needs to be done. It's being

          6  done because we have no other choice. It's being

          7  done because we have a real $6 billion budget gap

          8  next year. Let's not make any illusions as to what

          9  we're facing.

         10                 This is just the easiest part of a

         11  difficult process. This is just the easiest part of

         12  trying to maintain the City. We have to make sure

         13  that this City is viable.

         14                 For those of us that may have

         15  forgotten, we are now supposedly the whole City for

         16  the Olympics. We have a responsibility as

         17  legislators, but we also have a responsibility as

         18  legislators the appeal to the rest of the state and

         19  to the rest of that country for that matter, in

         20  order for us to be a viable whole City, in order for

         21  us to be a viable City we need help from all

         22  sources.

         23                 So, while I am voting for this

         24  property tax increase, I am voting with full eyes

         25  open that we need to do things to protect the
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          2  quality of life in this City, protect the structural

          3  integrity of this City, to protect the poor and the

          4  people that are not given an opportunity to be

          5  protected any other way, and I would hope that

          6  everyone in this room redouble their efforts to

          7  appeal to Albany and to the federal government, so

          8  that New York City can be made whole.

          9                 Thank you. I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: DeBlasio.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Fidler.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Jennings.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: May I be

         18  excused to explain my vote?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: I certainly

         21  haven't forgotten how I got to this body. I got here

         22  because the people put me here. And I'm extremely

         23  disappointed that we did not give the public who put

         24  us here the ample and timely opportunity to come

         25  here to speak and to give their opinion.
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          2                 Under the point to the sense of

          3  urgency, why did this meeting have to take place

          4  today, and through why we had to rush it, and why in

          5  this process we have to clump everything together

          6  through Local 317-A, MN 2 and MN 3, leaves me only

          7  to have to vote one way instead of being able to

          8  split my vote up, vote for the budget mod but not

          9  voting for the tax increase.

         10                 I'm extremely disappointed in this

         11  process, and I hope that in the future we could act

         12  better. I vote no.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McMahon.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Sears.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Permission to

         17  explain my vote, Mr. Chairman.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'll be very

         20  brief.

         21                 This has been a difficult process and

         22  I don't think anyone in this room and certainly in

         23  the Council has taken this very lightly. It's a high

         24  tax. I refer to it, as I said to my colleagues

         25  earlier, as a war tax, because that's exactly how I

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  see it.

          3                 We are at a war, our president

          4  acknowledges that, State Senators, US Senators

          5  around the country, US Senators have acknowledged

          6  that, and I view that as a war tax, eventually it

          7  gets lowered because New York City is bearing this

          8  burden today by itself, and, yes, Mr. Jennings, and

          9  you know that I respect you, we all have gotten here

         10  by people who went to the polls and voted for us;

         11  however, we also have the responsibility to cast

         12  aside that political aspect and to act as public

         13  servants, and at times when you must make major

         14  responsibilities the buck really stops with us, and

         15  as a result we don't call in and pull in 100 people

         16  in the room and have 100 different answers. The

         17  reason that we are here is to make tough decisions.

         18  The people have voted us in office so that we would

         19  make those decisions, we do the right thing for the

         20  City in good times and we do the right thing for the

         21  City in bad times, and I believe that the people of

         22  the City of New York understand that.

         23                 I vote aye, Mr. Chairman.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Gallagher.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: May I be

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  excused to explain my vote?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, you may.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I'm voting

          5  no on all coupled orders, and I'll be extending my

          6  remarks at the Stated Meeting. I just want to go on

          7  record as saying that I believe that this property

          8  tax increase disproportionately affects middle class

          9  taxpayers and our working families and I think it's

         10  ill-advised at this percentage.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, announce

         12  the results.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of 12

         14  in the affirmative, two in the negative, no

         15  abstentions, all items are adopted. Please sign the

         16  reports.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we'll keep

         18  the roll open for those that want to vote who have

         19  not voted.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 3:17 p.m.)
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